H SID J. WHITE SEP 30 1991 CLERK, SUPREME OURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,834

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

#### FRANCISCO HERNANDEZ,

Respondent.

## BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

**ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH** Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SARAH B. MAYER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 367893 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Petitioner



#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellee and Respondent was the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal; Petitioner was the prosecution and Respondent was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court, except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "R" will be used to denote the record on appeal, and the "AR" will be used to denote the Additional record on appeal. All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by Information as orally amended (AR 2-3), with lewd assault on J.M., a child under the age of sixteen, by pinning her against a wall and sucking her breasts, Count I; with lewd act in the presence of J.M., a child under the age of sixteen, by masturbating in her presence, Count II: and with lewd act in the presence of A.G., a child under the age of sixteen, by masturbating in her presence, Count III (R 514-515). On May 19, 1987, the Friday before trial, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Rely on Similar Fact Evidence; the Respondent objected, arguing that the State failed to give the required 10 days notice, and the trial court agreed, granting Respondent's motion to prohibit the testimony of Rebecca Stone, regarding a prior incident between Respondent and A.G. (R 552-553, 548, AR 17-18). A jury trial commenced on May 22, 1989.

A.G. testified that in 1987, she would go to the Four Arts Center after school; there, she met Respondent who was a gardner (R 38, 41-42, 43-44). She identified Respondent in court (43-44). On the day before the incident, she and J.M. were in the garden after school; they saw Respondent, who exposed himself and began to masturbate in their presence; they girls ran away (R 55-57). On the day of the incident, she and her friend, J.M. were in the garden; when they saw Respondent, they ran into the bushes to get away from him (R 58-60). They climbed on a wall and Respondent climbed up there with them (R 62-63). Respondent made sexual suggestions to them, then masturbated in front of them again (R 64-

64). They jumped down off the wall and Respondent jumped down also and grabbed them; although she got loose, he held on to J.M., pulled up her shirt, pinned her against the wall and sucked her breast (R 67-69). J.M. managed to knee Respondent in the chin, A.G. pushed him over and the girls ran across the street and told a teacher what had happened (R 69-70). A.G. admitted that in May, 1988, she falsely reported to the police that she and another girl had been abducted by four Latin men; they had gone to a party but did not get home on time, so they told this lie (R 72-73, 80-82).

J.M. testified that she went to the Society of Four Arts after school with A.G. (R 106-108). A.G. introduced her to Respondent; she identified him in court (R 109-110). She first met Respondent on the day before the incident (R 110). On this day, he gave them flowers and then he pulled down his pants and masturbated in front of them (R 116-118). The next day they went back to the garden; they were sitting on a wall and Respondent climbed up there with them (R 120, 123-125). Respondent made sexual suggestions to the girls, then again masturbated in front of them (R 128-129). She jumped off the wall, followed by A.G.; Respondent jumped off the wall with her, grabbed her arm, pinned her against the wall, pulled up her shirt, and sucked her breast (R 130-134, 143). She kneed him, A.G. pushed him and they ran across the street and told a teacher what happened (R 134-135).

Detective Chris Rigolo of the Palm Beach Police Department testified that she was involved in investigating this incident and assisted in interviewing the girls (R 158-160). They decided to

separate the girls to determine whether their stories were consistent; Detective Rigolo interviewed A.G. and then both girls together (R 161-164). Later she compared notes with the officer who initially took J.M.'s statement and found the girls' stories to be very consistent (R 164). Detective Rigolo also investigated the false abduction report made by A.G. approximately seven months after this incident (R 165-167). After the false report, she did not question the incidents with Respondent because the story told by the girls regarding the second incident was poorly developed, while the stories told by the girls after the incident in question were too consistent and too detailed to have been made up by the victims (R 168). On cross examination, Detective Rigolo testified that in separate conversations, each victim told her that as Respondent had J.M. pinned against the wall, she kneed him, A.G. pushed him and they ran away (R 169).

Sergeant Atkinson of the Palm Beach Police testified that his initial involvement in the case was to go to the garden and search for the suspect (R 180). Then he spoke with the victims; he took formal statements from the victims the next day (R 182, 186-190). Additionally he spoke with other witnesses (R 190-196). On the night of the incident, he also interviewed the Respondent; he read Respondent his rights in Spanish and Respondent answered he understood each right in English (R 196- 199). He told Respondent the allegations against him and, in English, Respondent told Sergeant Atkinson that he had had a conversation with these girls and had trouble with them in the past due to them being in the

gardens where they were not supposed to be (R 201). Atkinson was aware A.G. subsequently filed a false police report; he discussed the matter with Detective Rigolo and asked her to inform the State Attorney's office about it (R 203-204). After this incident, he continued to believe the victims' statements about Respondent because their statements were very detailed, very, very similar, had no inconsistencies, and neither statement had significant details which the other did not also include (R 208-210). Additionally, J.M. exhibited a number of symptoms exhibited by victims of sexual assault (R 205-206).

Julia Marie Holland, a kindergarten teacher at Palm Beach Public School testified that on October 21, A.G. and J.M., the victims, came running from the gardens in her direction; they asked her where a telephone was (R 236-240). She noticed that they were out of breath, very upset, kind of frantic and nervous (R 241). They told her that a man in the gardens had just tried to rape them (R 241-244). Initially, the girls did not ask her to call the police, but they were very scared and she felt they were telling the truth, so she felt the police should be called (R 245).

The State requested a Richardson hearing on the issue of whether it could present the testimony of Rebecca Stone, a friend of A.G.'s who saw Respondent fondle A.G. on a prior occasion (R 246-247). The State offered Ms. Stone's testimony to rebut the impeachment of A.G.'s credibility and to show Respondent's motive/modis operandi (R 247-253). Apparently after conducting a Richardson hearing (although the hearing is not part of the record on appeal) the

trial court ruled that the State could offer similar fact evidence through the testimony of Rebecca Stone (R 253-254). However, when the State could not immediately produce the witness, it was required to rest without presenting this witness (R 254-256). The Respondent's motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (R 256).

Respondent testified that he knew the girls from the school and that he had chased the older one out of the gardens on several occasions (R 262-263, 265, 275-276). He stated the victims accusations were a lie; he denied sucking J.M.'s breast, or exposing his sexual organs to any child, or unzipping his trouser's in front of any child or adult (R 264). He admitted seeing the victims in the garden on October 20 and October 21 and stated he had told them to leave the garden (R 264-265). He stated there were other people working in the garden on that day and that there were always people in the garden (R 266-268).

On cross-examination, Respondent denied knowing the victims' names prior to their testimony; he chased the older child from the gardens so many times that he could not say how often, but said she was never there alone (R 272-273). Although he cut flowers and gave them to many people, he denied giving any to the victims (R 276-277). He admitted having one conversation with A.G., but denied holding her hand, hugging her, fondling her breasts (R 277-280). He remembered seeing the victims on October 20, but did not know if he went into the bushes with them; he denied dropping his trousers that day or grabbing them (R 281). He kicked them out of the garden twice that day, the first time they left walking

normally; they were laughing and he thought they were talking like they had a secret (R 281-283). He did not see them return, but he saw them climbing the coconut tree later; he said he could not climb the wall without a ladder, but he didn't know if the victims did (R 283-284). In response to the question whether he again exposed himself to the victims on October 21, he stated "I am not sick." (R 284).

Respondent's wife testified that in 1987 her husband wore underwear with long legs to work; she testified that he did not own any red underwear, or bikini type underwear back then (R 287-288). She did not recall the clothes he wore to work that day; he was not in the habit of discussing his work with her and he did not discuss any problems he had at work that day (R 288-289). On crossexamination, she stated that he never mentioned the victims to her before this incident, or that he had had to throw them out of the garden (R 290-291). At first she denied her husband ever told her he gave people flowers, then after being shown her deposition testimony, she acknowleged that he told her he gave children flowers, but continued to deny he ever gave A.G. or J.M. flowers (R 290-293). She admitted talking with Respondent about the trial as it progressed (R 294).

Based on the Wife's testimony, the State moved the court for sanctions for the Respondent's conduct in violating the court's order not to talk to anyone regarding the trial testimony; specifically, the State asked the court to give a curative instruction to the jury, and to hold Respondent in contempt (R 298-

301).

Edward Rodriguez, a minister of the Love Tabernacle, where Respondent and his wife were members, testified that Respondent had a reputation for truthfulness and honesty in the community (R 308, 311). On cross-examination, he admitted he did not know Respondent's reputation for truth and veracity outside the church (R 315-316).

Evelyn Rand, a librarian at the library atached to the gardens, testified that she knew both victims (R 323). She testified that she knew A.G.'s reputation for truth at the library, and that was that A.G. did not always tell the truth (R 327-328). On crossexamination she stated that A.G.'s reputation was in part caused by the fact that she was troublesome (R 331). She recalled an incident in the spring where A.G. reported to her that Respondent had fondled her breast; Ms. Rand reported the incident (R 332-334).

Karl Larkin, building manager for the library and gardens, testified that he was familiar with the victims because they used to come to the gardens after school (R 352, 358-359). He stated the girls caused problems and had to be asked to leave the gardens (R 358-359). On the day in question, he saw the girls jumping through a hedge, they made some derogatory remarks to him and he asked them to leave (R 362). He testified that he never saw the girls with Respondent (R 363).

The Defense then rested (R 380).

On rebuttal, the State called Sergeant William Styfer of the Palm Beach Police Departmtne, who testified that he had received a

call from Mr. Larkin, who told Sgt. Styfer that he had the names of some witnesses regarding this case; however, he never told the sergeant that he kicked some children out of the gardens on October 21, or that the girls were a continual source of problems (R 384-385).

The State's second and final rebuttal witness was Rebecca Stone, who testified that she knew A.G. from school; Rebecca did her homework in the library and A.G. hung out in the garden (R 3911-393). She saw A.G. with the gardner, and she identified Respondent as the gardner in court (R 393-394). She and two other schoolmates were hiding in a bush; A.G. asked them to watch Respondent with her because she was not sure whether his conduct was "good" or "bad" (R 396-397). She saw Respondent hug A.G. and then try to fondle A.G.'s breast (R 398). Respondent saw the children in the bushes and got very angry; he told the others to leave but instructed A.G. to stay (R 398-399). The children went onto the library and A.G. told Ms. Rand what happened (R 399).

Both sides rested; Respondent renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal, which was denied (R 401-402). During instruction of the jury with respect to Count I/Lewd Assault on J.M., the trial court added to the Standard Jury Instruction, the following language: " knowingly committed a lewd or lacivious act in the presence of [J.M.] (R 457-458). After the jury was excused to retire, the prosecutor informed the court that the instruction given by the trial court on lewd assault contained language from the instruction on lewd act, which should not have been given (R 469-471). Counsel

for Respondent stated: "I don't want a curative instruction. I'd rather not have emphasis placed on it." (R 471). The trial court again asked Respondent's counsel if he wanted a curative instruction and he reiterated he did not (R 472). Later the jury came back asking to see the State's definition of lewd assault and battery (R 475-477). When the trial court answered the jury's question by reinstructing the jury with the standard instruction for lewd act rather than for lewd assault, neither the State not the defense objected or brought the matter to the trial court's attention (R 477-479).

The jury convicted Respondent of all three count's as charged in the information (R 481-483, 557). Respondent filed a motion for new trial; after a stipulation for substitution of counsel, a supplemental motion for new trial was filed (R 575, 576, 581-582). Said motion were heard by the trial court on August 3, 1989, and denied (R 496). Respondent was sentenced within the sentencing guidelines to a prison term of 3 1/2 years (R 497, 589-590).

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeals reversed Respondent's convictions, holding:

a) that the trial court erred in allowing opinion testimony
as to the victims' veracity, notwithstanding the Respondent's
failure to object to this testimony;

b) that the trial court erred in allowing evidence of a prior act of misconduct by Respondent, even though the evidence was offered as impeachment;

c) that the trial court committed fundamental error in

incorrectly reinstructing the jury on lewd assault, regardless of Respondent's counsel's failure to object and prior express waiver of the misinstruction;

d) that the trial court erred in convicting Respondent of two counts of lewd act, where there was only one incident of Respondent masturbating in front of two children; and

e) that the cumulative errors deprived Respondent of a fair trial and warranted a new trial.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### POINT I

The Fourth District Court of Appeal incorrectly reversed Respondent's two convictions for lewd assault, holding that as Respondent committed only one act of masturbation in the presence of two children, he could only be convicted for one count of lewd act. However the District Court's analysis incorrectly focuses on the Respondent, rather than the individual children the statute was enacted to protect. Further, as the jury instructions require the State to prove that Respondent <u>knowingly</u> committed the act in the presence of <u>each</u> victim, it is clear the that Respondent was properly convicted of two counts of lewd assault.

## POINT II

The State submits the District Court incorrectly determined that the trial court's incorrect reinstruction to the jury constituted fundamental error and was thus reviewable without objection, where the Respondent expressly requested that the lower court <u>not</u> reinstruct the jury on the first occasion that the incorrect instruction was given to the jury.

#### ARGUMENT

### POINT I

## RESPONDENT WAS PROPERLY CONVICTED OF TWO COUNTS OF LEWD ACT.

Below, Respondent argued, and the Fourth District agreed, that as he committed only one act of masturbation in front of two victims at the same time, he could only be convicted of one count of lewd act. The State contends that such an interpretation of F.S. 800.04 is contrary to established case law as well as the purpose for which the statute was enacted.

In enacting F.S. 800.04 (1985), the Florida Legislature stated that one of the purposes of the legislation was to prohibit lewd and lacivious acts upon children. Ch. 84-86 Laws of Fla. (1984). Consequently, it is clear that the aim of the statute is the protection of children. Further F.S. 800.04 is written in the singular, that is, the statute prohibits conduct "upon <u>any</u> child" and states that the "<u>victim's</u>" conduct is not a defense to the crime. Thus, it is also clear that the statute was intended to protect individual children, not simply children as a group. To allow the Fourth and Fifth Districts' decisions to stand, is to focus on the defendant rather than the victims who are the very people the statute was enacted to protect.

An element of proof necessary to establish lewd act is that a defendant "knowingly" committed a lewd or lacivious act in the presence of the victim, <u>Fla.Std.Jury.Instr.(Crim.)</u> 122-122a, while lewd assault does not require such proof. <u>Egal v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 196 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), review denied 476 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1985);

<u>Harris v. State</u>, 418 So.2d 416 (Fal. 1st DCA 1982), review denied 426 So.2d 26 (Fla. 1983). Thus, with respect to lewd act, the State must establish that the defendant <u>knowingly</u> committed the lewd act in the presence of <u>each</u> victim. Thus, the Fourth District's opinion which focuses on the Respondent's act, rather than his knowledge of the presence of each child, is incorrect and must be reversed.

The State submits that this Court should follow the precedent set in <u>Bergen v. State</u>, 552 So.2d 262 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), where the defendant was convicted of five counts of lewd act for his act of masturbating in front of five children; <u>McClain v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), review denied 392 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1980), where the defendant was properly convicted of two counts of aggravated assault for pointing a knife at two victims at the same time; and the express legislative intent of the statute, and reverse the Fourth District's opinion in this cause and reinstate Respondent's two convictions for lewd act. See also: <u>Ponder v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 1057 (Fla 1st DCA 1988),( where the defendant could have properly been convicted of two counts of armed robbery because he pointed his gun at two employees in his robbery of a restaurant).

#### POINT II

## RESPONDENT WAIVED HIS OBJECTION TO THE TRIAL COURT'S JURY INSTRUCTION.

The Fourth District held that although Respondent waived any objection to the trial court's initial incorrect instruction, he did not waive his right to raise the trial court's incorrect reinstruction of the jury, despite the fact that Respondent failed to object and expressly waived reinstruction or curative instruction the first time the trial court read the instruction incorrectly. The State submits that allowing Respondent to raise the incorrect instruction as fundamental, reversible error, particlarly under these circumstances, is to allow a defendant to sabotage and build error into a trial.

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