12-2-91 \emptyset

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHD J. WHITE OCT 23 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By___ Chief Depaty Clerk

ロイフ

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 77,834

vs.

T

FRANCISCO HERNANDEZ,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DOUGLAS N. DUNCAN WAGNER, NUGENT, JOHNSON, ROTH, KUPFER & ROSSIN, P.A. Flagler Center Tower, Suite 300 505 South Flagler Drive v P.O. Box 3466 West Palm Beach, Florida 33402 Tele: 655-5200 Fla. Bar #309672

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

hours requested a re-instruction on lewd assault. Pursuant to their request, the trial court instructed not on lewd assault, but The Fourth District concluded that as to the initial lewd act. misleading and inaccurate instruction, the Respondent waived any objection. However, as to the re-instruction, the Fourth District correctly held the trial court committed fundamental and reversible error. Decisions of this Court have held it is the duty of a trial court to correctly instruct the jury on the elements of the crime Failure to so instruct constitutes fundamental error. charged. Silence in the face of such an error by defense counsel does not constitute a waiver. It is essential to a fair trial that a jury be able to reach a verdict based upon an instruction on the crime charged, and not be left to its own devices to determine what constitutes the offense charged.

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS IMPROPERLY CONVICTED OF TWO COUNTS OF LEWD ACT WHEREIN ONLY ONE SUCH ACT WAS COMMITTED IN THE PRESENCE OF TWO CHILDREN. (restated).

The issue raised herein concerns the allowable unit of prosecution for lewd act under F.S., §800.04 (4). Lewd act is defined as one who "knowingly commits any lewd or lascivious act in the presence of <u>any child</u> under the age of sixteen years." The Petitioner contends that the language "any child" demonstrates that the legislature intended to authorize multiple prosecutions and punishments arising out of a single lewd act if more than one child is present. The caselaw does not support the Petitioner's argument.

It is the legislature, and not the courts, which define the allowable unit of prosecution for a criminal offense. <u>Crandon v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 110 S.Ct. 997, 1002 (1990); <u>Bell v. United States</u>, 349 U.S. 81, 75 S.Ct. 620 (1955). Thus, it is incumbent upon the legislature to clearly set forth within the statute the allowable unit of prosecution. In <u>Bell</u>, the defendant was charged with the simultaneous interstate transportation of two women in violation of the Mann Act, which makes it unlawful to transport interstate "<u>any</u> woman or girl" for immoral purposes. The issue was whether the defendant had committed one or two offenses. The Supreme Court concluded that the statute was ambiguous and held: "if Congress does not fix the punishment for a federal offense clearly and without ambiguity, doubt will be resolved against turning a single

transaction into multiple offenses..." 349 U.S. at 84, 75 S.Ct. at 622.

In Grappin v. State, 450 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1984), this Court reviewed the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal which had held that a defendant could be charged with five counts of theft as a result of his simultaneously stealing five firearms. State v. Grappin, 427 So.2d 760 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). In reaching its decision, the Second District noted that F.S., §812.014 (2)(b)(3) defines grand theft as the unlawful taking of "a firearm." The district court concluded that because the legislature had used the article "a" in reference to "a firearm," the legislature thereby intended to allow separate prosecutions and punishments for the taking of each individual firearm. In contrast, the Court noted that if the statute had listed the unlawful taking of "any firearm," the legislative intent would be ambiguous, and such ambiguity would be resolved in favor of the accused by prohibiting multiple prosecutions and punishments. State v. Grappin, supra, at 763. This Honorable Court agreed with the Second District's reasoning, and adopted it by holding:

> We find that the use of the article "a" in reference to "a firearm" in section 812.014 (2)(b)(3) clearly shows that the legislature intended to make each firearm a separate unit of prosecution. The construction which this Court and the district court placed on this statute consistent with federal is court decisions construing similar federal statutes. Federal courts have held that the term "any firearm" is ambiguous with respect to the unit of prosecution and that several firearms taken at the same time must be treated as a single offense with multiple convictions and punishments being precluded. (citations

On the other hand, the phrase "a omitted). firearm" has been held to express а legislative intent to allow separate prosecutions for each firearm. (citation omitted).

The "a"/"any" test was relied upon this Court in <u>State v.</u> <u>Watts</u>, 462 So.2d 813 (Fla. 1985). In <u>Watts</u>, the defendant, a state prisoner, was found in possession of two knives. He was charged with two counts under F.S., §944.47, which makes it unlawful for a state prisoner to be in possession of "any" weapon. Pursuant to the "a"/"any" test set forth in <u>Grappin</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court held that the defendant could not be charged and convicted of two counts for possessing the two knives.

In <u>Schmitt v. State</u>, 563 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 4th DCA), juris. <u>accepted</u>, 569 So.2d 444 (Fla. 1990),² the defendant was charged with seven counts of possessing seven photographs depicting various acts of sexual conduct by minor children contrary to F.S., §827.071 (5). This statutory offense makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly possess "any" photograph...he knows to include sexual conduct by minor children. The Fourth District relying upon this Court's decision in <u>State v. Watts</u>, <u>supra</u>, held that the article "<u>any</u>" demonstrated that the legislature intended that possession of several photographs should be treated as a single offense with multiple convictions and punishments precluded. <u>Id</u>., at 1101. Six of the defendant's convictions were therefore vacated and set aside.

²According to Schmitt's appellate counsel, the issue(s) being considered by this Court in <u>Schmitt</u> do not relate to the issue of the allowable unit of prosecution discussed herein.

Applying the above authorities to the instant case, the Petitioner's argument is without merit that the statutory language "any child" within the lewd act statute demonstrates the legislative intent to allow multiple prosecutions and punishments for each child present during the commission of one lewd act. If legislature had preceded child with the the article "a" Petitioner's argument would have merit. However, the article "any" does not clearly express the allowable unit of prosecution in singular terms. Grappin v. State, supra, at 481. Instead, the article "any" may be said to fully encompass plural activity. See, United States v. Kingsley, 518 F.2d 665, 667 (8th Cir. 1975). As noted above, when the legislature does not clearly set forth the allowable unit of prosecution, the ambiguity must be resolved in favor of the accused against turning a single act into multiple offenses. Thus, committing one lewd act, whether in the presence of one or ten children, constitutes but one offense under F.S., §800.04 (4) for which one punishment may be imposed.

Accordingly, the Fourth District correctly held that Mr. Hernandez could be convicted of only one count of lewd act for his one act of masturbating in the presence of two children. <u>Hernandez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). <u>Accord</u>, <u>Lifka</u> <u>v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 371, 373 f.n. 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). This construction of F.S., §800.04 (4) is consistent not only with this Court's decisions, but also with federal court decisions construing criminal statutes involving the article "any."

The Petitioner's request that this Court approve and adopt the

holding in <u>Bergen v. State</u>, 552 So.2d 262 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), wherein the court upheld the defendant's five convictions for lewd act for masturbating in front of five children must be rejected. The Second District's holding is in direct conflict with this Court's decisions in <u>Grappin</u> and <u>Watts</u> as to statutory effect of the article "any."

Lastly, the Respondent agrees with the Petitioner that the lewd act statute was designed to protect children. However, it does not necessarily follow that the legislature thereby intended to authorize multiple prosecutions and punishments for a single act. As to lewd act, it is the <u>act</u> itself which the legislature sought to prohibit whether it be done in the presence of one or Hernandez, supra; Lifka, supra.³ Courts are not more children. permitted to construe a statute in a way that it believes may best accomplish a statutory purpose. Instead, when it comes to imposition of criminal penalties, a court must look for "a clear indication that [the legislature] intended to authorize multiple punishments for a single [act]. Brown v. United States, 623 F.2d 54, 58 (9th Cir. 1980). As held by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Bell v. United States</u>, <u>supra</u>, unless the legislature has fixed the punishment for an offense clearly and without ambiguity, the ambiguity is to be resolved against turning a single transaction into multiple offenses.

³On the other hand, as to the offense of lewd assault, both the Fourth District and First District agreed that for each child assaulted a separate prosecution and conviction was allowable. Unlike lewd act, lewd assault focuses on the victim, i.e., whether the victim was put in fear of imminent harm.

The interpretation and application of F.S., §800.04 (4) by the Fourth District in vacating one of Respondent's lewd act convictions and sentences must be affirmed.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT CORRECTLY HELD THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL AND REVERSIBLE ERROR BY NOT CORRECTLY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE CRIME CHARGED. (restated).

The Petitioner contends that Mr. Hernandez either waived or invited the trial court's error in failing to correctly instruct the jury on the crime charged in Count I, lewd assault.⁴ An examination of the facts and caselaw demonstrates that Petitioner's argument is without merit.

During the initial jury instructions, the trial court incorrectly and misleadingly included in its instruction on lewd assault, the offense of lewd act. (R. 470-471). The Petitioner correctly notes that Respondent's trial counsel, Mr. Megias, advised the trial court he did not want a curative instruction by stating "I'd rather not have a emphasis placed on it." (R. 471). The jury began its deliberations at 2:35 P.M. (R. 473). They returned twice with questions, the last time at 4:50 P.M. requesting a re-instruction on <u>lewd assault</u>. (R. 475). Pursuant to their request, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Before you can find the defendant guilty of <u>lewd act</u>, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt: J.M. was under the age of sixteen years. Hernandez knowingly committed a lewd or lascivious act in the presence of J.M. (R. 477) (emphasis added).

⁴The Petitioner invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court by alleging conflict of decisions. While it appears that the only express and direct conflict of decisions involves those discussed in <u>Point I</u>, <u>supra</u>, the issue raised herein is within this Court's discretion to review or not review. <u>See</u>, <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).

As evidenced by the re-instruction, the trial court gave the jury the definition of lewd act, which of course was not the crime charged in Count I. As to this error, neither the State nor Mr. Hernandez objected.

In considering all of the trial court's instructions, the Fourth District held:

conclude that the We also trial court committed fundamental error in failing to correctly <u>re-instruct</u> the jury on lewd assault. The State concedes that the trial court's initial instruction incorrectly combined both lewd act and lewd assault. But, the defense counsel waived any objection to the initial instruction and requested the trial court not to re-instruct the jury. However, after the initial instruction, the jury requested a re-instruction on lewd assault. Thereafter, the trial court instead of instructing the jury as to lewd assault instructed them only as to lewd act....Failure to give a complete and accurate instruction is fundamental error, reviewable in the absence of an objection. (citation omitted). Hernandez v. State, 575 So.2d at 1323.

Accordingly, the Fourth District held that defense counsel had waived any objection to the trial court's <u>initial</u> inaccurate and misleading instruction. This holding is in accord with this Court's recent decision in <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1990), wherein it was held that defense counsel's affirmative request for the abbreviated short form version of the standard instruction on excusable homicide waived his subsequent claim on appeal that the trial court erred in giving his requested instruction.

However, as to the <u>re-instruction</u> wherein the jury was not instructed <u>at all</u> as to the crime charged, the Fourth District held this was fundamental reversible error. In numerous cases, this Court has held that failing to instruct on the crime charged is fundamental error.

In <u>State v. Jones</u>, 377 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 1979), the defendant was charged with first degree murder. The jury was instructed on premeditated murder, and felony murder, but the court did not define the underlying felony of robbery. This omission was brought to the trial court's attention by the prosecutor, at which time defense counsel simply remained silent. This Court held:

> In the present case there was a complete failure to give any instruction on the elements of the underlying felony of robbery. <u>This was fundamental error</u>. It is essential to a fair trial that the jury be able to reach a verdict based upon the laws and not be left to its own devices to determine what constitutes the underlying felony. <u>Id</u>., at 1165. (emphasis added).

Likewise, in <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1981), this Court held that defense counsel's failure to request the trial court to instruct on the underlying felony for felony murder "does not relieve <u>a trial court of the duty</u> to give all charges necessary to a fair trial of the issues." <u>Id</u>., at 976. (emphasis added).

The duty of a trial court to intelligently and correctly instruct the jury on the crime charged has long been held to be an inherent and indispensable requisite of a fair and impartial trial. <u>Gerds v. State</u>, 64 So.2d 915, 916 (Fla. 1953). In <u>Robles v. State</u>, 188 So.2d 789 (Fla. 1966), this Court held that the jury "must be adequately instructed on the essential elements of the crime charged." <u>See, also, Williams v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 817 (Fla. 3d

DCA), <u>cert. den</u>., 375 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1979) (the trial court failed to instruct the jury on the crime charged held reversible fundamental error despite the defendant's failure to object).

As noted above, after the Court's re-instruction neither the State nor the defense objected. The Petitioner urges this Court to presume that the Respondent waived his due process right to have the jury instructed on the crime charged because of his earlier response to the inaccurate instruction and his silence. First, courts must presume that a defendant did not waive his rights. See, e.g., North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 373, 99 S.Ct. 1755, 1757 (1979). Secondly, silence, does not constitute a waiver for correct jury instructions on the crime charged. Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 961 (Fla. 1981); State v. Jones, supra; Franklin v. State, supra.

The significant fact is that the jury instruction error herein involves the complete failure of the trial court to instruct on the It is not simply a situation involving an crime charged. inaccurate instruction as was the case in Morris v. State, 557 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1990) relied upon by the Petitioner. In Morris, this Court found the jury instruction on felony murder by aggravated child abuse to be inaccurate, but determined that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id., at 29. In 1988), Parker v. Dugger, 537 So.2d 969 (Fla. the judge inadvertently omitted during his oral instructions the definition of first degree felony murder. However, a complete definition was included within the written instructions, which were given to the

jury, and the jury was told they should review the written instructions if they had any doubt on the instructions. This Court held that the written instructions, as well as the evidence establishing that the murder was premeditated, as opposed to a felony murder, rendered the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Sub judice, the jury first received an inaccurate instruction on lewd assault, followed by no instruction, and the record does not establish that correct written instructions were given to the jury. In <u>Roman v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 1985), also relied upon by the Petitioner, the defendant argued that the trial court had erred in failing to give an instruction he himself had never requested.

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